The Weaponization of Race is Hurting America

By Star Parker & Marty Dannenfelser Edited by Raheem Williams



Image Source: Miki Jourdan on Flickr



Table of Contents

| The Weaponization of Race Hurts America1 | |
|--|---|
| | Introduction |
| | Congressional Black Caucus Member Attacks Black Colleague |
| | Bork Demonized in Supreme Court Confirmation Process4 |
| | Clarence Thomas Says Abortion was the 'Elephant in the Room' 4 |
| | Justice and Senator Labeled "Uncle Tom" and "Uncle Tim" 6 |
| | NAACP Ties George W. Bush to Horrific Killing of a Black Man7 |
| | Obama's Campaign & Election Fosters Hope, Then Disappointment7 |
| | Obama Focuses on Disparate Impact; High-Profile Events Stir Controversy-10 |
| | Biden and Trump Spar Over Racial Controversies and Spike in Crime12 |
| | Biden Doubles Down on Disparate Impact, Claims Bias in Law Enforcement-13 |
| | South Carolinians Unite Following High-Profile Tragedies14 |
| | Tyre Nichols Death Racialized Despite Black Police Officers' Involvement 15 |
| | Larry Elder Pushes Back Against Racial Narrative in Tyre's Killing16 |
| | Has Dr. King's Dream Been Sidetracked?17 |
| | Different Visions for the Future18 |
| | Endnotes20 |

Introduction



Image Source: Martin Luther King, Jr., delivering "I have a dream" speech, 1963 U.S. Library of Congress

This year marks the 60th anniversary of Rev. Martin Luther King Jr.'s "I Have a Dream" speech, which was delivered on the steps of the Lincoln Memorial on August 28, 1963¹.

While there have been many notable advancements in racial equality² since 1963 -- the Civil Rights Act of 1964, Voting Rights Act, Fair Housing Act, and the U.S. Supreme Court's 1967 Loving decision that struck down interracial marriage bans in Virginia and

15 other states⁵⁴-- the left has arguably abandoned a core element of Dr. King's dream, substituted a form of discrimination that is advanced as "racial equity"⁵, and vastly expanded the size and reach of the Federal Government.⁶

Rather than pursuing Dr. King's dream of a society in which Americans would "not be judged by the color of their skin but by the content of their character," the left has weaponized racial issues in a manner that divides Americans into separate identity groups and proclaims that blacks are inherently victims trapped in a systemically racist culture⁷ that has been instituted by white supremacists.

Congressional Black Caucus Member Attacks Black Colleague

On January 4, 2023 -- nearly 60 years after the "Dream" speech -- Congressional Black Caucus member Cori Bush (D-MO) attacked a black House colleague, Rep. Byron Donalds (R-FL), who had been nominated to serve as Speaker of the House. "Byron Donalds is not a historic candidate for Speaker. He is a prop," Bush tweeted. "Despite being Black, he supports a policy agenda intent on upholding and perpetuating white supremacy. His name being in the mix is not progress – it's pathetic," Bush argued.⁸

Rep. Donalds called out Cori Bush for her remarks. "Before you judge my agenda, let's have a debate over the policies and the outcomes. Until then, don't be a crab in a barrel!"

Bork Demonized in Supreme Court Confirmation Process

Invoking racial arguments has become a tactic in numerous policy battles in the 60 years since Dr. King's "Dream" speech. In 1986 and with a Republican majority in the U.S. Senate, President Ronald Reagan nominated Antonin Scalia for the U.S. Supreme Court, and he was confirmed unanimously. A year later, but with a new Democrat majority in the Senate, Reagan nominated Robert Bork to replace Lewis Powell, a moderate justice who had been nominated by Richard Nixon.¹⁰

In November 1986, incoming Senate Judiciary Committee Chairman Joe Biden (D-DE) said he would support Judge Bork if "after our investigations, he looks a lot like Scalia . . . and if the groups tear me apart, that's the medicine I'll have to take." Shortly thereafter, Biden embarked on a run for the 1988 presidential nomination and abandoned his previous expression of support for a Bork nomination. "If you nominate [Bork], you'll have trouble on your hands," Biden warned Reagan in 1987.

Within an hour of Reagan's announcement that he was nominating Bork, Senator Ted Kennedy (D-MA) took to the Senate floor to paint a picture of "Robert Bork's America." He described it as "a land in which women would be forced into back-alley abortions" and "Blacks would sit at segregated lunch counters..."

Ilya Shapiro, formerly Vice President for Constitutional Studies at the Cato Institute, explains how the weaponization of racial arguments played a major role in the defeat of Bork's nomination. "Republicans had hoped to woo Southern Democrats, who were uneasy about the Court's direction on abortion and religion, but the allegations of racial insensitivity put these senators in an awkward position because of their need for Black votes." The racial allegations also provided an excuse for a few non-Southern Democrats with pro-life voting records to vote against the Bork nomination.

Clarence Thomas Says Abortion was the 'Elephant in the Room'

Four years after the Bork confirmation battle, Senate Judiciary Committee Chairman Joe Biden presided over the controversial Supreme Court nomination of Clarence Thomas. While a major focus of news coverage was on the allegations of sexual harassment by Anita Hill, a law school professor and former colleague of Clarence Thomas at the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC), Justice Thomas believes the abortion issue was "the elephant in the room." In a September 2007 interview with CBS "60 Minutes"

Justice Thomas said, "That was the issue, that is the issue that people are apparently so upset about, that you determine the composition of your entire federal judiciary [around], it seems now." ¹⁵

During his tenure as Chairman of the EEOC (1982-1990), Clarence Thomas challenged affirmative action policies. Thomas views such policies as discriminatory practices that violate the principle of equal treatment under the law. Similarly, Thomas has stated that he believes affirmative action policies are not helpful to the people they are intended to benefit and that they actually reinforce negative stereotypes about the abilities of minority individuals. Anita Hill has long been a supporter of affirmative action policies and she has spoken out strongly against the Supreme Court overturning the *Roe v. Wade* abortion decision.

Justice Thomas's conservative views have made him a special target of the liberal establishment. "There's different sets of rules for different people," Thomas said in a film about his life. "If you criticize a black person who's more liberal, you're a racist. Whereas you can do whatever to me, or [former Housing and Urban Development Secretary] Ben Carson, and that's fine, because you're not really black because you're not doing what we expect black people to do." 19

"We were told that, 'Oh, it's gonna be the bigot in the pickup truck; it's gonna be the Klansmen; it's gonna be the rural sheriff. But it turned out that through all of that, ultimately the biggest impediment was the modern day liberal."

Thomas believes this racial double standard was particularly acute during his Supreme Court confirmation process. "I felt as though in my whole life I had been looking at the wrong people who would be problematic toward me. We were told that 'Oh, it's gonna be the bigot in the pickup truck; it's gonna be the Klansmen; it's gonna be the rural sheriff," he said in the film.²⁰

"But it turned out that through all of that, ultimately the biggest impediment was the modern day liberal. They were the ones who would discount all those things because they have one issue or because they have the power to caricature you," Justice Thomas continued.²¹

Justice and Senator Labeled "Uncle Tom" and "Uncle Tim"

In 2023, Georgia Republicans sought to honor Justice Thomas, a native son of the state, with a statue on the grounds of the State Capitol. Democrats overwhelmingly voted against bestowing the honor, with State Sen. Emanuel Jones, a Decatur Democrat calling Thomas an "Uncle Tom." Sen. Jones said Justice Thomas is like someone who has "sold his soul to the slave master."²²



Image Source: U.S. Senator Tim Scott (R-SC) (Senate Website)

In April 2021, Senator Tim Scott (R-SC) delivered the Republican response to President Joe Biden's first State of the Union address. During his speech, Sen. Scott referred to America as "not a racist country" while recognizing racism exists and is a problem he personally faced. In response, some Twitter users began using the hashtag #UncleTim as a spin for the derogatory and more common "Uncle Tom" pejorative.²⁵ The term "Uncle Tom" or "Uncle Tim" is a derogatory term used to

describe a black person who is perceived as subservient to white people, particularly those in power. The term comes from a common misinterpretation of the character Uncle Tom in Harriet Beecher Stowe's novel "Uncle Tom's Cabin," whose character has been reinvented by contemporary thinkers as being overly deferential to his white slave masters.²⁴

The hashtag #UncleTim quickly became a trending topic on Twitter. The application of the "Uncle Tim" moniker to Sen. Scott's comments was a very open attempt to degrade the Senator based on his race by suggesting that he is a sellout to the black community. The slur is rarely applied to white people regardless of political orientation and is exclusively used to reinforce racial stereotypes and police political thought within the black community.

On May 1, 2021, Tiffany Cross, host of the MSNBC show "The Cross Connection," depicted Sen. Scott as a "token" who was being used to downplay the issue of racism in America. Cross used her platform with about half a million viewers to soundly reject Scott's assertion that America is not a racist country. ²⁵ Senator Scott himself addressed the controversy, saying, "It is stunning in 2021 that those who speak about ending discrimination want to end it by more discrimination." He also stated that the use of the hashtag was "disappointing. ²⁶

Ironically, liberal TV hosts and Twitter influencers didn't respond with such malice when prominent Democrats like President Biden and Vice President Kamala Harris concurred with Sen. Scott and publicly stated that they do not believe America to be a racist country.^{27 28}

NAACP Ties George W. Bush to Horrific Killing of a Black Man

During George W. Bush's tenure as Governor of Texas, a hate crimes bill stalled in the State Senate and was never sent to his desk. While the main controversy about the bill was whether to add sexual orientation as a category covered by State hate crimes law, proponents of the legislation sought to make race the central focus of the debate.^{29 30}

When a black man named James Byrd was killed by despicable racists who chained him to a truck and dragged him through the streets, Bush was blamed for not securing passage of the hate crimes bill. Even though the two main perpetrators of this horrible crime received the death penalty and a third was sentenced to life imprisonment after cooperating with prosecutors, the NAACP ran radio ads in 10 states (18 media markets) and print ads in black newspapers and *The New York Times* shortly before the 2000 presidential election that sought to associate George W. Bush and non-passage of proposed Texas hate crimes bill with the horrific killing of Mr. Byrd. ^{51 52}

Obama's Campaign & Election Fosters Hope, Then Disappointment

As a candidate for president, Barack Obama campaigned as a unifier but governed divisively -- including on race.

In a speech on race relations at the Constitution Center in Philadelphia in March 2008⁵⁵, Obama separated himself from the words of his former pastor, Jeremiah Wright, and his use of "incendiary language to express views that have the potential not only to widen the racial divide but views that denigrate the greatness and the goodness of our nation that rightly offend white and black alike."



 $Image\ Source: Chuck\ Kennedy/\ The\ White\ House$

Obama said Rev. Wright's remarks "expressed a profoundly distorted view that sees white racism as endemic and that elevates what is wrong with America above all that we know is right with America . . . The profound mistake of Reverend Wright's sermons is not that he spoke about racism in our society. It's that he spoke as if our society was static; as if no

progress had been made; as if this country -- a country that has made it possible for one of his own members to run for the highest office in the land and build a coalition of white and black ... Latino, Asian, rich, poor, young and old -- is still irrevocably bound to a tragic past."⁵⁴

On Father's Day in 2008, Obama spoke to a largely black congregation at the Apostolic Church of God in Chicago.⁵⁵ He highlighted the role of the church and fathers in building strong communities:

Here at Apostolic, you are blessed to worship in a house that has been founded on the rock of Jesus Christ, our Lord and Savior. But it is also built on another rock, another foundation -- and that rock is Bishop Arthur Brazier. In 48 years, he has built

this congregation from just a few hundred to more than 20,000 strong -- a congregation that, because of his leadership, has braved the fierce winds and heavy rains of violence and poverty; joblessness and hopelessness. Because of his work and his ministry, there are more graduates and fewer gang members in the neighborhoods surrounding this church. There are more homes and fewer homeless. There is more community and less chaos because Bishop Brazier continued the march for justice

"Of all the rocks upon which we build our lives, we are reminded today that family is the most important. And we are called to recognize and honor how critical every father is to that foundation."

that he began by Dr. King's side all those years ago. He is the reason this house has stood tall for half a century. And on this Father's Day, it must make him proud to know that the man now charged with keeping its foundation strong is his son and your new pastor, Reverend Byron Brazier.

Of all the rocks upon which we build our lives, we are reminded today that family is the most important. And we are called to recognize and honor how critical every father is to that foundation. They are teachers and coaches. They are mentors and role models. They are examples of success and the men who constantly push us toward it.

But if we are honest with ourselves, we'll admit that what too many fathers also are -- is missing -- missing from too many lives and too many homes. They have abandoned their responsibilities, acting like boys instead of men. And the foundations of our families are weaker because of it.

You and I know how true this is in the African-American community. We know that more than half of all black children live in single-parent households, a number that has doubled -- doubled -- since we were children. We know the statistics -- that children who grow up without a father are five times more likely to live in poverty and commit crime; nine times more likely to drop out of schools; and 20 times more likely to end up in prison. They are more likely to have behavioral problems, or run away from home or become teenage parents themselves. And the foundations of our community are weaker because of it.

How many times in the last year has this city lost a child at the hands of another child? How many times have our hearts stopped in the middle of the night with the sound of a gunshot or a siren? How many teenagers have we seen hanging around on street corners when they should be sitting in a classroom? How many are sitting in prison when they should be working, or at least looking for a job? How many in this generation are we willing to lose to poverty or violence or addiction? How many?

Yes, we need more cops on the street. Yes, we need fewer guns in the hands of people who shouldn't have them. Yes, we need more money for our schools, and more outstanding teachers in the classroom, and more after-school programs for our children. Yes, we need more jobs and more job training and more opportunity in our communities.

But we also need families to raise our children. We need fathers to realize that responsibility does not end at conception. We need them to realize that what makes you a man is not the ability to have a child -- it's the courage to raise one.

We need to help all the mothers out there who are raising these kids by themselves; the mothers who drop them off at school, go to work, pick them up in the afternoon, work another shift, get dinner, make lunches, pay the bills, fix the house, and all the other things it takes both parents to do. So many of these women are doing a heroic job, but they need support. They need another parent. Their children need another parent. That's what keeps their foundation strong. It's what keeps the foundation of our country strong.³⁶

Obama recounted his own experience growing up with an absent father but said he was luckier than most, giving credit to his mother and "two wonderful grandparents from Kansas who poured everything they had into helping my mother raise my sister and me -- who

worked with her to teach us about love and respect and the obligations we have to one another."

Candidate Obama went on to say, "I resolved many years ago that it was my obligation to break the cycle -- that if I could be anything in life, I would be a good father to my girls; that if I could give them anything, I would give them that rock -- that foundation -- on which to build their lives. And that would be the greatest gift I could offer."

He stressed the importance of "setting an example of excellence for our children -- because if we want to set high expectations for them, we've got to set high expectations for ourselves." Education is crucial, he said. "We know that education is everything to our children's future. We know that they will no longer just compete for good jobs with children from Indiana, but children from India and China and all over the world. We know the work and the studying and the level of education that requires."

Obama said the greatest gift we can pass on to our children is "the gift of hope" and he cited the importance of faith. "That is our ultimate responsibility as fathers and parents. We try. We hope. We do what we can to build our house upon the sturdiest rock. And when the winds come, and the rains fall, and they beat upon that house, we keep faith that our Father will be there to guide us, and watch over us, and protect us, and lead His children through the darkest of storms into light of a better day."³⁷

The 2008 election of Barack Obama as America's first black president was widely hailed as a watershed moment in race relations. On the night after Obama's election (November 5, 2008), Gallup Poll daily tracking found that 71% of American voters – including 61% of John McCain voters – viewed Obama's election as one of the most important advances for black Americans in the past 100 years.⁵⁸

Obama Focuses on Disparate Impact; High-Profile Events Stir Controversy

As president, Obama repeatedly used disparate-impact analysis to suggest that statistical disparities were indicative of racial discrimination. "Disparate impact is woven through all civil rights enforcement of this administration," said Russlynn Ali, the assistant secretary for the Department of Education's (DOE) civil rights office in October 2010.³⁹

One of the areas that DOE focused its disparate-impact analysis on was school discipline. Roger Clegg, former president and general counsel of the Center for Equal Opportunity and a former top official in the Justice Department's civil rights division, expressed concern that the practice could drive schools to "get their numbers right" to avoid being "hauled before a court or some administration agency and threatened with loss of federal funding whenever they have a racial imbalance of one kind or another."⁴⁰

Per an October 2010 report in Education Week, Clegg "explained that educators might become hypersensitive to students' race or ethnicity in discipline decisions, resulting in disciplining some students who shouldn't be and not disciplining others who deserve it."⁴¹

Obama was sometimes quick to suggest racial bias in high-profile cases involving the police or quasi-law enforcement officials. Following the death of a black 17-year-old, Trayvon Martin, in an altercation with a 'white Hispanic' neighborhood watch volunteer, George Zimmerman, Obama said, "If I had a son, he'd look like Trayvon." Obama was responding to a reporter's question about the case in March 2012 after many had called for Zimmerman's arrest but several weeks before he was charged. "When I think about this boy, I think about my own kids," Obama continued.⁴²

Abigail Thernstrom, then Vice Chair of the U.S. Commission on Civil Rights, expressed concern about Obama's Trayvon remarks and the possibility that the president "wanted the prosecutors, judge and jury to believe that this was a case about race where justice demanded a guilty verdict. If that was his motivation -- and we cannot know, but reasonable people may certainly suspect -- then Obama should be ashamed of his effort to stir America's turbulent, dangerous racial waters," Thernstrom continued. "The president's role is not to be a racial agitator, and the mark of a great civil rights leader has been a determination to reject the temptations of that approach. And not that long ago -- in 2008, in Philadelphia -- candidate Obama distanced himself from such agitators," Thernstrom stated in an opinion article published by CNN. 43

During Obama's 2012 re-election campaign against Mitt Romney, Vice President Joe Biden stirred a racial controversy when he alleged that Romney would "Unchain Wall Street" and let the big banks write their own rules. "They're going to put y'all back in chains," Biden told a Danville, Virginia audience that included hundreds of blacks in a city that is about 50 percent black. 44 45

In an analysis of the Gallup findings ("Americans See Obama Election as Race Relations Milestone"), Senior Scientist Frank Newport said 67% of Americans "say a solution to relations between blacks and whites will eventually be worked out, the highest value Gallup

has measured of this question."⁴⁶ However, in a June 17, 2020 article ("American Attitudes and Race") Newport said, "by the end of his [Obama's] administration, attitudes on race had soured rather than improved."⁴⁷

Biden and Trump Spar Over Racial Controversies and Spike in Crime



Image Source: Adam Schultz

President Biden may believe that invoking the "systemic racism" narrative is politically advantageous to him and there is some empirical data that suggests it might have helped him in 2020.⁴⁸ Former President Trump criticized the mayor of Minneapolis and the governor of Minnesota for not calling up the National Guard sooner when rioting broke out following the killing of George Floyd by a Minneapolis police officer.⁴⁹ Trump subsequently criticized other mayors

and governors when the rioting spread to other parts of America during the summer of 2020. He attacked presidential candidate Joe Biden for not sufficiently speaking out against the rioting and he threatened to send in troops if local officials didn't get things under control.⁵⁰ Biden countered by accusing Trump of inflaming racial tensions and exacerbating the unrest.⁵¹

During the first five months of 2020, Trump attained the highest job approval ratings of his presidency – 49 percent in five different January – May Gallup tracking polls. Following George Floyd's death on May 25, Trump's approval dropped by 10 points in the next Gallup poll and to 38 percent in a later June poll. ⁵² In an early June 2020 NPR/PBS News Hour/Marist poll, 67% said Trump had mostly increased racial tensions -- including 88% of African Americans, 73% of Independents, and 63% of whites. ⁵³ A Reuters/Ipsos poll released in June 2020 found that only 33 percent of Americans approved of Trump's handling of protests following George Floyd's death, while 56 percent disapproved. ⁵⁴

Biden Doubles Down on Disparate Impact, Claims Bias in Law Enforcement

As president, Joe Biden has argued that white supremacy is the greatest threat to America and he frequently invokes the riot at the U.S. Capitol on January 6, 2021, to reinforce that argument. Biden's Justice Department has prioritized its focus on alleged white supremacists and Biden has made the topic of "systemic racism" a central focus throughout his Administration, permeating policy areas that include the economy, education, energy, and the environment, health care, housing, and law enforcement.⁵⁵

Biden has doubled down on disparate-impact analysis and frequently alleged bias in law enforcement. As the presumptive Democrat nominee for president in August 2020, Biden invoked the sixth anniversary of 18-year-old Michael Brown's death in Ferguson, Missouri following an altercation with a police officer. "It's been six years since Michael Brown's life was taken in Ferguson -- reigniting a movement. We must continue the work of tackling systemic racism and reforming policing." 56 Biden's vice president, Kamala Harris, and Sen. Elizabeth Warren (D-MA) as candidates for president in August 2019, tweeted on the fifth anniversary of Michael Brown's death that it was the anniversary of his "murder." 57

The circumstances of Michael Brown's death in 2014 were investigated by the Obama Justice Department (under Attorney General Eric Holder) and Saint Louis County prosecutors, among others. George Washington University law professor Jonathan Turley explains⁵⁸ why no charges were ever brought against police officer Darren Wilson:

The Brown case was the subject of multiple investigations by state police, state prosecutors, the Justice Department, and a grand jury. All of those investigations found no basis to charge Officer Darren Wilson with a crime. The investigations also found that the evidence showed that Brown did not have his hands up (which led to the widely used "Don't Shoot" demonstrations) and that he attacked Wilson after robbing a store. Specifically, the Obama Administration under Attorney General Eric Holder reached the following conclusion: "The autopsy results confirm that Wilson did not shoot Brown in the back as he was running away because there were no entrance wounds to Brown's back -- several witnesses stated that Brown appeared to pose a physical threat to Wilson as he moved toward Wilson."⁵⁹

In the aftermath of Michael Brown's August 2014 death, there was considerable unrest in Ferguson, Missouri, and other cities across the nation. The later discredited "hands up, don't shoot" mantra⁶⁰ went viral (even internationally) as many activists advanced the argument

that Michael Brown had been murdered by a police officer. The increase in crime that occurred following this turmoil has sometimes been called the "Ferguson effect." 61

South Carolinians Unite Following High-Profile Tragedies

Less than eight months later (April 4, 2015), a South Carolina police officer shot Walter Scott Jr. in the back as he sought to flee following a traffic stop. The police officer was convicted of second-degree murder and sentenced to 20 years in prison. ⁶² Contrary to developments following Michael Brown's death, Walter Scott's family, as well as government and community leaders in South Carolina succeeded in calling for calm and came together in support of requiring all law enforcement agencies in the state to use body-worn cameras. ⁶⁵ U.S. Senator Tim Scott (R-SC) praised then Gov. Nikki Haley and the state legislature for moving quickly to enact the body camera legislation. "I am proud we were able to come together as a state and take this step to help keep both our law enforcement officers and the communities they serve safer," Sen. Scott said. ⁶⁴

Two months after Walter Scott was killed and while the community was still healing, an avowed white supremacist walked into Emanuel African Methodist Episcopal Church ("Mother Emanuel") in Charleston, South Carolina. He was welcomed by a group of African Americans who were gathered for a Bible study, and they prayed with him for about an hour. Despite this outpouring of kindness to a stranger, the young man stood up and started firing a gun, killing nine people, including the senior pastor and state senator Clementa Pinckney. ⁶⁵ It was a horrific crime that could have torn the community apart and set off rioting throughout America.

In contrast to what happened in Ferguson, Missouri 10 months earlier and what happened after the tragic killing of George Floyd in May 2020, Gov. Nikki Haley, church leaders, family members of the deceased, and other state and local leaders came together and refused to let the despicable act of one deranged individual cause them to turn on one another. People of all races, religions and other backgrounds came together in prayer and a determination to capture the shooter and bring him to justice and heal their community. Once again, they didn't let outside agitators come in and whip up anger in Charleston or anywhere else. ⁶⁶

The morning after the attack, police arrested Dylan Roof in Shelby, North Carolina. The 21-year-old white supremacist had targeted members of the church because of its history and status. Roof was subsequently convicted of 33 federal hate crime and murder charges, and sentenced to death. He later pleaded guilty to all nine state charges to avoid a second death

sentence and was sentenced to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. While he will have some opportunities to appeal his federal death sentence, Roof may eventually be executed by the federal justice system.⁶⁷

In listening to the black leaders who had been so instrumental in holding the people of South Carolina together in the wake of such a horrible and racist crime, Gov. Haley was told that seeing the Confederate flag fly over the State Capitol every day was hurtful to them as they viewed that flag as a symbol of slavery. In an appearance at the Center for Urban Renewal and Education's (CURE) 2021 National Policy Summit, Gov. Haley said she determined that it was time for the Confederate flag to come down and be placed in a museum instead. She rallied legislators to take that course of action and they responded with an overwhelming vote in both houses of the state legislature.⁶⁸

Tyre Nichols Death Racialized Despite Black Police Officers' Involvement

Following the January 2023 beating death of Tyre Nichols in Memphis, Tennessee at the hands of five black police officers, President Biden once again invoked race as a factor. "It is yet another painful reminder of the profound fear and trauma, the pain, and the exhaustion that Black and Brown Americans experience every single day." Biden blamed Senate Republicans for blocking the George Floyd Justice in Policing Act. ⁶⁹ Conversely, Senator Tim Scott (R-SC) has blamed Senate Democrats for filibustering his police reform legislation -- the JUSTICE Act. ⁷⁰

Rep. Jamaal Bowman (D-NY) sent out a fundraising email in which he said Tyre's death was the result of an "operating system" that dehumanizes black people. "This kind of white supremacy is not just about skin color, however: it's about ideology. It's the operating system on which too much of our society is based," Rep. Bowman said.⁷¹

Karen Bass, a former congresswoman and now mayor of Los Angeles said in an interview, "Even with the black officers, I wonder how they would have reacted if it was a young white person?"⁷²

Rev. Al Sharpton said, "[Tyre's death] is an outrage and race is still involved." CNN's Van Jones said that even though the cops were black, "they might still have been driven by racism."

White progressives also advanced a pervasive racism narrative. Vermont ice cream maker Ben & Jerry's argued that "the fact that the officers who murdered Tyre are Black shows how

deeply embedded white supremacy is in American culture and specifically in policing." They went on to tweet: "You do not have to be white to act in service of white supremacy. It is more powerful than any one individual or group of people, it is in the air we breathe and built into the systems that surround us."^{74 75}

Larry Elder Pushes Back Against Racial Narrative in Tyre's Killing

Columnist Larry Elder pushed back against this racial narrative in two successive opinion articles distributed by Creators.com. "Here are the facts. It is rare for cops to kill anybody," Elder said. Citing Bureau of Justice Statistics data involving millions of civilian contacts with police, Elder argued, "Odds are much less for an unarmed black person to be killed."

Elder pointed out that a former Thompson Reuters data scientist (Zac Kriegman) wrote in 2021: "Over the past five years, police have killed more unarmed whites than unarmed blacks . . . The raw statistics suggest that there is actually a slight anti-white bias in police application of lethal force."

Manhattan Institute Fellow and City Journal contributing editor Heather Mac Donald, citing data from researchers at the Centers for Disease Control and U.S. Justice Department, says, "African Americans between the ages of 10 and 34 die from homicide at 13 times the rate of white Americans." Larry Elder says almost always the young black male's murderer is a young black male. He believes that explains the "disproportionate" police interaction with blacks. To

In his second article following Tyre's death, Larry Elder cited a 2021 paper by Zac Kriegman entitled, "BLM Spreads Falsehoods That Have Led to the Murders of Thousands of Black People in the Most Disadvantaged Communities." Kriegman says a growing number of cops who, fearing false allegations of "systemic racism," refused to engage in proactive policing. Kriegman argues this has resulted in thousands of "excess murders" of mostly black victims, who otherwise would be alive had policing not gone passive.⁸⁰

Reacting to Kriegman's findings, Larry Elder had some harsh words for those who insist on driving the same racial narrative regardless of the circumstances. "So, due to his baseless anti-cop rhetoric, Biden, the Democrats, and the media have blood on their hands. And Thompson Reuters fired Kriegman when he refused to retract his findings," Elder said.⁸¹

Despite his 2008 Father's Day Speech, in which presidential candidate Barack Obama said that "children who grow up without a father are five times more likely to live in poverty and

commit crime; nine times more likely to drop out of schools and 20 times more likely to end up in prison" -- and noting that this problem is especially pronounced in the black community -- Barack and Michelle Obama called Tyre's death a "painful reminder" of America's cop problem.⁸²

Larry Elder says, "there is a sad, tragic throughline in almost all of these dead black suspect/police encounter cases: resisting arrest. Why is it taboo for 'black leaders' and blacks in the media to encourage black suspects not to resist arrest?!?"⁸⁵

Has Dr. King's Dream Been Sidetracked?

Rev. Martin Luther King's "I Have a Dream" speech may be most memorable for its 'judging people by the content of their character, not the color of their skin' component but it had some other important messages. "We must forever conduct our struggle on the high plane of dignity and discipline," he said. "We must not allow our creative protest to degenerate into physical violence. Again and again, we must rise to the majestic heights of meeting physical force with soul force. The marvelous new militancy which has engulfed the Negro community must not lead us to a distrust of all white people, for many of our white brothers, as evidenced by their presence here today, have come to realize that their destiny is tied up with our destiny."

Dr. King called on participants to dedicate themselves to working for positive change in their states, churches, and local communities. "Continue to work with the faith that unearthed suffering is redemptive," he said. "Go back to Mississippi, go back to Alabama, go back to South Carolina, go back to Georgia, go back to Louisiana, go back to the slums and ghettos of our Northern cities, knowing that somehow this situation can and will be changed." 85

In the next several years following Dr. King's speech, major civil rights measures were enacted into law. ⁸⁶ The 24th Amendment, which outlawed the poll tax as a requirement in federal elections, was ratified by the states in January 1964. ⁸⁷ The Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Voting Rights Act (1965), and the Fair Housing Act (1968) were enacted shortly thereafter. ⁸⁸

Tragically, the assassination of Dr. King in 1968 led to a great deal of rioting and social turmoil in America. The enactment of President Lyndon Johnson's "Great Society" programs in the mid-1960s vastly expanded the role of the Federal Government and to some degree supplanted prior responsibilities of the family (especially fathers), churches, and local communities. ⁸⁹ 90Welfare reforms in the 1990s sought to rebalance these responsibilities

and, many would argue, contributed to increasing recognition of the dignity of work and a reduction in poverty.⁹¹

Black Americans saw real median income grow by 7.9 percent in 2019 -- a record one-year increase that brought the black income level to a new high. 92 The black poverty rate fell by 2 percentage points to a record low. 95 Hispanic unemployment hit a record low and black unemployment was at its lowest rate ever. 94 The COVID-19 pandemic disrupted this progress in 2020 and the Biden Administration is once again seeking to increase the role of the Federal Government in many areas of civic life.

Different Visions for the Future

States and the Federal Government are increasingly moving in opposite directions. While the Biden Administration and their allies in Congress are seeking to vastly expand federal spending and involvement in social program spending⁹⁵ and, along with some allied states, are promoting racial reparations measures⁹⁶, conservatives in Congress and the states are advancing school choice and economic opportunity legislation.⁹⁸ Onservatives are also fighting against critical race theory¹⁰⁰ and other measures they believe cause racial division -- contrary to the dream Dr. King articulated 60 years ago.

A great deal has transpired in America since Dr. King delivered his "I Have a Dream" speech. However, our nation's founding documents remain the same and Dr. King mentioned them prominently in his 1963 speech. "When the architects of our republic wrote the magnificent words of the Constitution and the Declaration of Independence, they were signing a promissory note to which every American was to fall heir. This note was a promise that all men – yes, Black men as well as white men – would be guaranteed the unalienable rights of life, liberty, and the pursuit of happiness," Dr. King said.¹⁰¹

Dr. King went on to say that at that point in time, America had "defaulted on this promissory note insofar as her citizens of color are concerned." While our nation shortly thereafter enacted major civil rights protections into law and blacks have broadly realized strides in educational and economic attainment, we still find ourselves divided on racial matters and many still believe the promise of America is unfulfilled for them. 103

In the coming years, the American people will decide what course our nation takes, whether it will be one of unity and equal opportunity or one of division and government manipulation. They will choose leaders who create a vision and implement corresponding policy decisions.

And they will determine if our leaders are free to weaponize racial issues or to look beyond our differences and chart a path that truly provides equal opportunity and freedom for all Americans.

Endnotes

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Anti-miscegenation_laws_in_the_United_States.

⁵ Bella, Timothy. "DeSantis invokes MLK as he proses Stop Woke Act against critical race theory." *The Washington Post*. December 15, 2021. https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/2021/12/15/desantis-stop-woke-act-mlk-crt.

⁶ Rector, Robert and Leslie Ford. "Reversing Welfare Reform and Returning to 'Welfare as we Knew It'." *Heritage Foundation*. March 15, 2021. https://www.heritage.org/welfare/commentary/reversing-welfare-reform-and-returning-welfare-we-knew-it.

⁷ Yancey-Bragg, N'dea. "What is systemic racism? Here's what it means and how you can help dismantle it." *USA Today*. Revised January 29, 2021. https://www.usatoday.com/story/news/nation/2020/06/15/systemic-racism-what-does-mean/5343549002.

⁸ Donalds, Byron (@ByronDonalds). "FWIW, nobody asked "CoriBush her opinion on the matter. Before you judge my agenda, let's have a debate over the policies and the outcomes. Until then, don't be a crab in a barrel!" Twitter, January 4, 2023, 5:31 pm.

https://twitter.com/ByronDonalds/status/1610781010148425728?cxt=HHwWgIC8jeyy0tosAAAA. 9 lbid.

¹⁰ Shapiro, Ilya. "The Original Sin of Robert Bork." Cato Institute. September 9, 2020.

https://www.cato.org/commentary/original-sin-robert-bork.

¹¹ Ibid.

12 Ibid.

¹³ "Congressional Record—Senate." US Senate. October 23, 1987.

https://www.senate.gov/reference/resources/pdf/348_1987.pdf.

¹⁴ Andrusko, Dave. "Judge Robert Bork: Rest in Peace." *National Right to Life News*. December 19, 2012. https://www.nationalrighttolifenews.org/2012/judge-robert-bork-rest-in-peace.

¹⁵ Gittens, Hasani. "Thomas: Anita Who? Abortion was Key." *New York Post.* September 28, 2007. https://nypost.com/2007/09/28/thomas-anita-who-abortion-was-key.

¹⁶ Fuchs, Erin. "How Clarence Thomas Grew to Hate Affirmative Action." *Business Insider*. October 15, 2013. https://www.businessinsider.com/how-clarence-thomas-grew-to-hate-affirmative-action-2013-10.

¹⁷ "Anita Hill urges black jurists to back affirmative action." *Deseret News.* August 1, 1997.

https://www.deseret.com/1997/8/1/19326723/anita-hill-urges-black-jurists-to-back-affirmative-action.

¹⁸ Kaur, Wendy. "Anita Hill on the Supreme Court Overturning *Roe* and Where the Country Goes from Here." *Elle*. July 11, 2022. https://www.elle.com/culture/career-politics/a40575937/anita-hill-supreme-court-roe-abortion-clarence-thomas.

¹⁹ Dwyer, Devin. "Justice Clarence Thomas rebukes Biden-led confirmation hearings in new film." *ABC News*. November 28, 2019. https://abcnews.go.com/Politics/justice-clarence-thomas-rebukes-biden-led-confirmation-hearings/story?id=67235780.

²⁰ Ibid.

²¹ Ibid.

¹ "Read Martin Luther King Jr.'s 'I Have a Dream' speech in its entirety." NPR. January 16, 2023.

² "Civil Rights Movement." *History*. Last revised January 10, 2023. https://www.history.com/topics/black-history/civil-rights-movement.

³Loving v. Commonwealth of Virginia, 388 U.S. 1 (1967). https://www.law.cornell.edu/supremecourt/text/388/1.

⁴ "Anti-miscegenation laws in the United States." Wikipedia. Accessed February 10, 2023.

- ²² McLaughlin, Dan. "Georgia Democrats: Clarence Thomas Is an 'Uncle Tom' Not Deserving of the Same Honors as Jimmy Carter." *National Review.* February 16, 2023. https://www.nationalreview.com/corner/georgia-democrats-clarence-thomas-is-an-uncle-tom-not-deserving-of-the-same-honors-as-jimmy-carter/.
- ²³ Moore, Mark. "Twitter Allows 'Uncle Tim' to Trend for Hours after Sen. Tim Scott's Rebuttal, and Then Took Action." *New York Post.* April 30, 2021. https://nypost.com/2021/04/29/sen-tim-scott-attacked-as-uncle-tim-on-twitter-after-gop-rebuttal/.
- ²⁴ Turner Patricia. Why African-Americans Loathe 'Uncle Tom. By Michel Martin. NPR, July 30, 2008. https://www.npr.org/templates/story/story.php?storyId=93059468.
- ²⁵ Koberg, Kelsey. "MSNBC's Tiffany Cross Blasts Tim Scott as 'Token' and 'Clown'." *Fox News*. May 1, 2021. https://www.foxnews.com/media/msnbcs-tiffany-cross-blasts-tim-scott-as-token-and-clown.
- ²⁶ Hoonhout, Tobias. "Tim Scott reacts to 'Uncle Tim' slur: 'Literally attacking the color of my skin'." *National Review*. April 29, 2021. https://www.nationalreview.com/news/tim-scott-reacts-to-uncle-tim-slur-literally-attacking-the-color-of-my-skin/.
- ²⁷ Naylor, Brian. "Biden Responds to Sen. Tim Scott: 'I Don't Think the American People Are Racist'." *NPR*. April 30, 2021. https://www.npr.org/2021/04/30/992355205/biden-in-response-to-tim-scott-says-i-dont-think-the-american-people-are-racist.
- ²⁸ Brown, Matthew. "Kamala Harris Agrees with Tim Scott That America Not a 'Racist Country' but Says Must 'Speak Truth' on Racism." *USA Today*. April 29, 2021.
- https://www.usatoday.com/story/news/politics/2021/04/29/kamala-harris-responds-tim-scott-saying-america-not-racist-country/4886682001/.
- ²⁹ Spong, John. "The Hate Debate." *Texas Monthly*. April 2001. https://www.texasmonthly.com/news-politics/the-hate-debate.
- ³⁰ Duggan, Paul. "Texas Hate-Crimes Bill Dies." *The Washington Post*. May 15, 1999.

https://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-srv/politics/campaigns/wh2000/stories/bush051699.htm.

- ³¹ Kane, Gregory. "Hate-crime ad's truth was meant to mislead." *The Baltimore Sun*. November 3, 2000. https://www.baltimoresun.com/news/bs-xpm-2000-11-04-0011040088-story.html.
- ³² NAACP National Voter Fund. "Byrd Vote-TV." Advertisement. *Carol H. Williams Advertising*. October 25, 2020. https://p2000.us/ads2/adnaacp.html.
- ³³ "Transcript: Barack Obama's Speech on Race." NPR. March 18, 2008.

https://www.npr.org/templates/story/story.php?storyId=88478467.

- ³⁴ Ibid.
- ³⁵ "Texts of Obama's fatherhood speech." *Politico.* June 15, 2008.

https://www.politico.com/story/2008/06/text-of-obamas-fatherhood-speech-011094.

- ³⁶ Ibid.
- ³⁷ Ibid.
- ³⁸ Newport, Frank. "Americans see Obama Election as Race Relations Milestone." *Gallup*. November 7, 2008. https://news.gallup.com/poll/111817/americans-see-obama-election-race-relations-milestone.aspx.
- ³⁹ Zehr, Mary Ann. "Obama Administration Targets 'Disparate Impact' of Discipline." *Education Week*. October 7, 2010. https://www.edweek.org/leadership/obama-administration-targets-disparate-impact-of-discipline/2010/10.
- ⁴⁰ Ibid.
- ⁴¹ Ibid.

- ⁴² Thernstrom, Abigail. "Obama's mistake on Trayvon Martin case." *CNN*. July 15, 2013. https://www.cnn.com/2013/07/15/opinion/thernstrom-trayvon-martin-obama/index.html. ⁴³ Ibid.
- ⁴⁴ Mehta, Seema. "Republicans seize on Biden's 'put you back in chains' comment." *Los Angeles Times*. August 14, 2012. https://www.latimes.com/politics/la-xpm-2012-aug-14-la-pn-biden-back-in-chains-comment-20120814-story.html.
- ⁴⁵ Emery, David. "Did Joe Biden Tell a Racially Mixed Audience that Republicans Would 'Put Y'all Back in Chains'?" *Snopes*. May 15, 2019. https://www.snopes.com/fact-check/joe-biden-put-yall-back-in-chains. ⁴⁶ Ibid.
- ⁴⁷Newport, Frank. "American Attitudes and Race." *Gallup*. June 17, 2020. https://news.gallup.com/opinion/polling-matters/312590/american-attitudes-race.aspx.
- ⁴⁸ Montanaro, Domenico. "Poll: Two-Thirds Think Trump Made Racial Tensions Worse After Floyd was Killed." *NPR*. June 5, 2020. https://www.npr.org/2020/06/05/870019283/poll-two-thirds-think-trump-made-racial-tensions-worse-after-george-floyds-death.
- ⁴⁹ Steinbuch, Yaron. "Minneapolis Mayor Jacob Frey hits back at Trump over leadership jab." *New York Post*. May 29, 2020. https://nypost.com/2020/05/29/minneapolis-mayor-hits-back-at-trump-for-calling-him-very-weak.
- ⁵⁰ "As Protests and Violence Spill Over, Trump Shrinks Back." *New York Times*. Revised November 5, 2020. https://www.nytimes.com/2020/05/31/us/politics/trump-protests-george-floyd.html.
- ⁵¹ "Biden and other Democrats accuse Trump of stocking racial tensions, encouraging violence." *Marketwatch*. August 30, 2020. https://www.marketwatch.com/story/biden-and-other-democrats-accuse-trump-of-stoking-racial-tensions-encouraging-violence-2020-08-30.
- ⁵² "Presidential Approval Ratings—Donald Trump." *Gallup*. Accessed February 18, 2023. https://news.gallup.com/poll/203198/presidential-approval-ratings-donald-trump.aspx.
- ⁵³ Montanaro, Domenico. "Poll: Two-Thirds Think Trump Made Racial Tensions Worse After Floyd was Killed." ⁵⁴ Solender, Andrew. "Trump's Approval Drops to 39% in Gallup Poll, Down 10 Points Since May." *Forbes*. June 10, 2020. https://www.forbes.com/sites/andrewsolender/2020/06/10/trumps-approval-drops-to-39-in-

gallup-poll-down-10-points-since-may/?sh=3c503e4a487b.

- ⁵⁵ Stafford, Kat and Aaron Morrison. "Biden repudiates white supremacy, calls for racial justice in inaugural speech." *PBS*. January 20, 2021. https://www.pbs.org/newshour/politics/biden-repudiates-white-supremacy-calls-for-racial-justice-in-inaugural-speech.
- ⁵⁶ "Biden Tweet Rekindles Debate Over Michael Brown Case." *Jonathan Turley*. August 11, 2020. https://jonathanturley.org/2020/08/11/biden-tweet-rekindles-controversy-over-michael-brown-case/comment-page-2.
- 57 Ibid.
- ⁵⁸ Ibid.
- ⁵⁹ "Department of Justice Report Regarding the Criminal Investigation into the Shooting Death of Michael Brown by Ferguson, Missouri Police Officer Darren Wilson." *Department of Justice*. March 4, 2015. https://www.justice.gov/sites/default/files/opa/press-
- releases/attachments/2015/03/04/doj_report_on_shooting_of_michael_brown_1.pdf. ⁶⁰ lbid.
- ⁶¹Lehman, Charles Fain. "New Evidence for the Ferguson Effect." *City Journal*. January 14, 2022. https://www.city-journal.org/new-evidence-connects-police-protests-and-rising-violent-crime.

- ⁶² "Former North Charleston, South Carolina, Police Officer Michael Slager Sentenced to 20 Years in Prison for Federal Civil Rights Offense." *Department of Justice*. December 7, 2017. https://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/formernorth-charleston-south-carolina-police-officer-michael-slager-sentenced-20-years.
- ⁶³ Rose, Veronica. "Summary of South Carolina's Police Body Camera Law." *Connecticut General Assembly: Office of Legislative Research*. Accessed February 10, 2023. https://www.cga.ct.gov/2015/rpt/2015-R-0159.htm.
- ⁶⁴ "Haley signs body camera legislation in North Charleston." ABC News. June 10, 2015.

https://abcnews4.com/archive/haley-to-sign-body-camera-legislation-in-north-charleston.

65 "Charleston church shooting." Wikipedia. Accessed February 10, 2023.

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Charleston_church_shooting.

- ⁶⁶ Haley, Nikki. "Foundations of Freedom Lunch." CURE Policy 2021 National Policy Summit, Washington, DC. https://curepolicy.org/event/national-policy-summit-2021/video/foundations-of-freedom-lunch.
- ⁶⁷ "Charleston church shooting."
- ⁶⁸ Haley, Nikki. "Foundations of Freedom Lunch."
- ⁶⁹ "Statement from President Joe Biden on Tyre Nichols." White House. January 27, 2023.

https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2023/01/27/statement-from-president-joe-biden-on-tyre-nichols.

- ⁷⁰ Pollak, Joel. "Tim Scott Criticizes Democrats for 'George Floyd' Bill After Filibustering his Police Reforms." *Senator Tim Scott.* March 2, 2021. https://www.scott.senate.gov/media-center/in-the-news/tim-scott-criticizes-democrats-for-george-floyd-bill-after-filibustering-his-police-reforms.
- ⁷¹ Nava, Victor. "Rep. Jamaal Bowman fundraising off Tyre Nichols death: 'Killed by America'." *New York Post.* February 6, 2023. https://nypost.com/2023/02/06/rep-jamaal-bowman-raising-money-off-the-white-supremacy-that-killed-tyre-nichols.
- ⁷² Elder, Larry. "Larry Elder: Racializing the Police-Involved Death of a Black Man." *Black Community News*. February 6, 2023. https://blackcommunitynews.com/racializing-police-involved-death-black-man. ⁷³ Ibid.
- ⁷⁴Chasmar, Jessica. "Jamaal Bowman says Tyre Nichols 'killed by white supremacy' after fatal beating by Black cops." *Fox News*. February 12, 2023. https://www.foxnews.com/politics/jamaal-bowman-says-tyre-nichols-killed-white-supremacy-fatal-beating-black-cops.amp.
- ⁷⁵Ben and Jerry's (@benandjerrys). "The fact that the officers who murdered Tyre and Black shows how deeply embedded white supremacy is in American culture and specifically in policing. 3/4." Twitter, February 2, 2023, 12:04 pm. https://twitter.com/benandjerrys/status/1621207900029960193?cxt=HHwWgoC-xdv_1_8sAAAA. ⁷⁶ Ibid.
- 77 Ibid.
- ⁷⁸ Ibid.
- 79 Ibid.
- ⁸⁰ Elder, Larry. "Larry Elder: Racializing the Police-Involved Death of a Black Man, Part 2." *Black Community News*. February 9, 2023. https://blackcommunitynews.com/racializing-police-involved-death-black-man-2 ⁸¹ Ibid.
- 82 Elder, Larry. "Larry Elder: Racializing the Police-Involved Death of a Black Man."
- ⁸³ Elder, Larry. "Larry Elder: Racializing the Police-Involved Death of a Black Man, Part 2."
- ⁸⁴ "Read Martin Luther King Jr.'s 'I Have a Dream' speech in its entirety."
- 85 Ibid.
- 86 "Civil Rights Movement."

- ⁸⁷ "24th Amendment: Abolition of Poll Taxes." *National Constitution Center.* Accessed February 19, 2023. https://constitutioncenter.org/the-constitution/amendments/amendment-xxiv.
- 88 "Civil Rights Movement."
- ⁸⁹ Siegel, Fred. "The Forgotten Failures of the Great Society." *National Review*. January 27, 2020. https://www.nationalreview.com/magazine/2020/01/27/the-forgotten-failures-of-the-great-society.
- ⁹⁰ Krumholz, Willis. "Family Breakdown and America's Welfare System." *Institute for Family Studies*. October 7, 2019. https://ifstudies.org/blog/family-breakdown-and-americas-welfare-system.
- ⁹¹ Weidinger, Matt. "Turning Back the Clock on Welfare Reform." *American Enterprise Institute*. August 23, 2021. https://www.aei.org/poverty-studies/turning-back-the-clock-on-welfare-reform.
- ⁹² Creamer, John, Emily A. Shrider, Kalee Burns, and Frances Chen. "Poverty in the United States: 2021." *Census Bureau*. September 15, 2020.

https://www.census.gov/library/publications/2020/demo/p60-270.html.

- ⁹³ Creamer, John. "Inequalities Persist despite Decline in Poverty for All Major Race and Hispanic Origin Groups." *Census Bureau*. September 15, 2020. https://www.census.gov/library/stories/2020/09/poverty-rates-for-blacks-and-hispanics-reached-historic-lows-in-2019.html.
- ⁹⁴ Fitzgerald, Maggie. "Black and Hispanic unemployment is at a record low." *CNBC*. October 4, 2019. https://www.cnbc.com/2019/10/04/black-and-hispanic-unemployment-is-at-a-record-low.html.
- 95 Rector, Robert and Leslie Ford. "Reversing Welfare Reform and Returning to 'Welfare as we Knew It'."
- ⁹⁶ "Booker Reintroduces Legislation to Form Commission for Study of Reparation Proposals for African Americans." *Senator Cory Booker*. January 24, 2023. https://www.booker.senate.gov/news/press/booker-reintroduces-legislation-to-form-commission-for-study-of-reparation-proposals-for-african-americans.
- ⁹⁷ Mello-Klein, Cody. "The reparations movement gains momentum, but major challenges remain." *Northeastern Global News*. February 14, 2023. https://news.northeastern.edu/2023/02/14/reparations-movement/.
- 98 "RSC Releases Family Policy Agenda." *Republican Study Committee.* September 29, 2022. https://rsc-hern.house.gov/news/press-releases/rsc-releases-family-policy-agenda.
- 99 "State Policy Network." State Policy Network. Accessed February 18, 2023. https://spn.org/.
- ¹⁰⁰ "Reject Critical Race Theory." *Heritage Action for America*. Accessed February 18, 2023. https://heritageaction.com/toolkit/rejectcrt.
- 101 "Read Martin Luther King Jr.'s 'I Have a Dream' speech in its entirety." 102 Ibid.
- ¹⁰⁵ Parker, Star, Robert Borens, and Marty Dannenfelser. "Black Opinions and Voting Behavior." *Center for Urban Renewal and Education*. July 5, 2022. https://curepolicy.org/report/black-opinions-voting-behavior.

The Authors



Star Parker is the Founder & President of CURE, the Center for Urban Renewal and Education (CURE), a non-profit Policy Institute based in Washington DC that fights poverty to restore dignity through messages of faith, freedom, and personal responsibility. The vision of CURE is to preserve, promote and protect Christianity, capitalism, and our constitution to improve culture, reduce government dependency, and build race relations. CURE works in public policy, the public square, and in poor communities by communicating its principles directly to policy leaders in Washington, through the media, and through its clergy program of more than 500 pastors nationwide, many in distressed communities.

Star is a nationally syndicated columnist and hosts a weekly television news show, CURE America, that is broadcast on the National Religious Broadcasters Network, the TCT Network, and streaming services. Guests include Members of Congress, Administration officials, and public opinion leaders in Washington D.C. and around the country for in-depth policy discussions on the news of the day.

Star has received numerous awards and serves on the Board of Directors for the National Religious Broadcasters and the Leadership Institute. She has spoken at more than 225 college campuses and brings her message to the American people as a regular commentator on FOX News, BBC, NPR, and other outlets.



Marty Dannenfelser is Vice President for Government Relations & Coalitions, guiding CURE's policy promotion with Members of Congress, the Executive Branch, and State leaders. He also works with coalition partners to advance CURE's policy objectives – particularly as they relate to culture, race, and poverty - and shares CURE's ideas on free markets, religious freedom, personal responsibility, and other policy matters.

Dannenfelser previously served as the presidentially appointed Staff Director of the U.S. Commission on Civil Rights, and as a Senior Policy Advisor at the White House Office of Public Liaison. He has served in senior policy, government relations, and external relations positions with the Department of Health and Human Services and the Department of Energy. Dannenfelser has also served as Senior Policy Advisor and Coalitions Director for the House Committee on Energy and Commerce, and as Legislative Director for a Member of Congress.